# TOOLS FOR PREDICTING RISK OF MORTALITY IN THE ICU SETTING: DO WE NEED A CRYSTAL BALL OR ROSE COLORED GLASSES?

## Vinay Nadkarni and Michael Trigg

Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, Department of Anesthesia and Critical Care, Alfred I. duPont Hospital for Children, 1600, Rockland Road, P.O. Box 269, Wilmington, DE 19899

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
  - 2.1. What are the available tools for prediction of mortality risk in the PICU setting?
    - 2.1.1. Physiologic stability assessment
    - 2.1.2. Anatomic Injury Severity Scoring
    - 2.1.3. Therapeutic Intervention Intensity Assessment
    - 2.1.4. Disease specific scoring systems
    - 2.1.5. Disease and Organ Failure Markers
    - 2.1.6. Subjective Assessments
    - 2.1.7. What specific risk factors have been identified for HSCT patients in the ICU?
    - 2.1.8. What can we extrapolate from adult experience?
    - 2.1.9. Under what circumstances is ICU care futile? When is the appropriate time to consider withdrawal of support?
    - 2.1.10. Time for evolution to prospective/concurrent registry style data collection and analysis
- 3. Summary
- 4. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) applied to children is associated with high risk for organ failure, ICU admission, morbidity and mortality. "Respiratory failure" after HSCT carries a historically grave prognosis. Factors associated with high risk for critical care complications in HSCT patients have been identified, but are dependent on timing and intensity of interventions. Several ICU severity of illness scoring systems predict prognosis on the basis of physiologic stability, organ system involvement, and intensity of supportive measures; but these tend to underestimate posttransplantation mortality risk. Adjustment of scoring systems and logistic regression factor analysis are promising adjuncts, but have not been adequately validated. Specific endpoints such as death, length of ICU or hospital stay, and neurologic function are relatively easy to quantify; but, quality of life is difficult to assess and report. What constitutes "heroic therapy" in one institution may qualify as "routine" care in another. Therefore, tools to predict mortality in the pediatric HSCT recipient requiring intensive care are difficult to apply to the individual patient, and remain more an art than science. This manuscript attempts to briefly define and review the pertinent types of PICU severity of illness and mortality prognosis scoring systems, and their application to pediatric HSCT patients. Pitfalls in application of physiology, organ system failure, therapeutic intensity, disease specific, and history-based scoring systems are discussed. Prospective validation studies for severity of illness systems and the evolution to concurrent registry-style data collection and analysis are necessary for the HSCT patient requiring ICU care.

### 2. INTRODUCTION

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) applied to children with diverse underlying disease, immune suppressive conditioning regimens, therapies and complications is associated with high risk for acute or chronic organ failure, morbidity and mortality. Approximately 25% of HSCT patients will require "intensive care" admission and support during their hospitalization (1). Critical care supportive management is similar to that for all children who present with immune compromise and high dose chemotherapy, with additional attention focused toward potential contributions from graft rejection, Graft vs Host Disease (GVHD), and toxicity of total body irradiation. In adults, ICU admission for HSCT patients with the combination of respiratory failure and either hepato-renal or circulatory failure (refractory hypotension) appears fatal (2, 3). "Respiratory failure" after HSCT carries a grave prognosis, with a reported 6month survival of only 2.5-9% (4). The outcome following acute hypoxemic respiratory failure in children following early studies of bone marrow transplantation was reported as similarly dismal (5-8). However, improving critical care supportive and treatment measures have suggested a more optimistic outlook (9-12). Inconsistent definitions of "respiratory failure" and "organ system failure", individual biases for timing of specific interventions and invasive supports, and disease specific markers of mortality risk make survival and outcome prognosis prediction difficult (13-15). Factors associated with high risk for critical care complications in HSCT patients can be identified, but are often dependent on timing and intensity of intervention and parameter assessment. Identical therapies (mechanical

Table 1. Categories of ICU Scoring Systems

Types of ICU Scoring System	Example	Example	Example	Example
Physiologic stability	PRISM (Pediatric Risk of Mortality) 1st 24 hours	PIM (Paediatric Index of Mortality) 1 <sup>st</sup> 1 hour	SAPS (Simplified Acute Physiology Score)	O-PRISM (Oncologic -pediatric risk of mortality)
Anatomic Injury severity	ISS (Injury Severity Scale)	AIS (Abbreviated Injury Scale)	ASCOT (A Severity Characteristic of Trauma)	·
Therapeutic interventions	TISS (therapeutic intervention severity score)	P-TISS (Prehospital -therapeutic intervention severity score)		
Disease Specific	Meningo-coccemia	PTS (Pediatric Trauma Score)	AIDS	O-PRISM (Oncologic-PRISM)
Disease and organ failure markers	Lactate for shock severity	CRP for HSCT patients		-
Subjective	Individual experience	Institutional experience	GCS (Glasgow coma score)	

ventilation, renal replacement therapies) instituted early vs late may not carry the same mortality risk. What constitutes "heroic therapy" in one institution may qualify as "routine" intensive care or even "routine" HCST unit care in another.

Criteria for initiation versus withholding emerging ICU technologies is not currently well developed or agreed upon by consensus. Several ICU severity of illness scoring systems attempt to predict prognosis on the basis of physiologic stability, organ system involvement, and intensity of supportive measures (16-23). These ICU prognostic scores are limited in application to the post-transplantation setting and often underestimate mortality risk (24-27). Adjustment of scoring systems to account for risk and support factors common in HSCT has been attempted, but has not been validated in large, multi-institutional populations of HCST patients (28). Evolving logistic regression models using sophisticated markers for prognostic assessment show promise, (29, 30) but are not well enough established to rely upon in the ICU setting. All prognostic scoring systems are population based and population predictors, and therefore are not designed or effective when applied to any single individual patient. Specific endpoints such as death, length of ICU or hospital stay, and neurologic function are relatively easy to quantify; but, quality of life is difficult to assess and report, and overshadows all other endpoints. Referral patterns and management styles can influence the use or disuse of aggressive support measures. Therefore, tools to predict mortality in the pediatric HSCT recipient requiring intensive care are difficult to apply to the individual patient, and remain more an art than science.

This manuscript attempts to briefly define and review the pertinent types of PICU severity of illness and mortality prognosis scoring systems, and their application to pediatric HSCT patients. Pitfalls in application of physiology, organ system failure, therapeutic intensity, disease specific, and history-based scoring systems are discussed. Prospective validation studies for severity of illness scoring systems applied to HSCT patients and the evolution to concurrent registry-style data collection and analysis are necessary.

# 2.1. What are the available tools for prediction of mortality risk in the PICU setting?

Survival from life threatening complications of HSCT depend on a multitude of interdependent factors. Prognostic scoring systems in the ICU are generally based upon physiologic stability measurements (PRISM= Pediatric Risk of Mortality, PIM= Paediatric Index of Mortality, Simplified Acute Physiologic Score), Anatomic injury site (ISS=Injury Severity Score), intensity of therapeutic interventions (TISS=Therapeutic Intervention Severity Score, Prehospital-TISS), disease specific scoring, markers of shock or organ dysfunction (Lactate, CRP=C-reactive protein) or subjective measures (GCS=Glasgow Coma Score, historical perspective).

# 2.1.1. Physiologic stability assessment

Physiology based assessments of ICU mortality risk are increasingly available, accurate and easy to use (18-20, 30, 32). The PRISM score is most commonly applied in the PICU setting and is based on the most abnormal recorded values for 14 central physiologic parameters during the first 24 hours of ICU admission. The score is independent of the level of technologic support required to achieve those parameters. The score has been prospectively validated across general PICU populations (18), and has been modified to attempt to adapt it to HSCT recipients (28). The PIM (21) provides a much simpler method of assessing severity of illness based upon the first hour of contact with pediatric intensive care. Physiology based severity of illness scoring systems were originally designed as research tools to control for confounding factors of severity of illness and to allow comparison of quality measures and resource allocation between hospitals. Some authors have demonstrated the use of prediction models to provide individual patient risk assessment (33-35). However, when applied to PICU populations as large as 10,000 patients, survival predictors for patients with very high physiologic instability (PRISM) scores were rare, and mortality risk prediction unreliable for individuals (20).

The main pitfalls in application of physiology based mortality risk predictors include:

- Scoring systems were devised to quantify severity of illness, but were not designed for individual prognosis
- Scoring systems appear to predict mortality risk for populations, not individuals

- Concern that reporting "most unstable" stability may not be the best estimate of overall mortality risk
- Although ICU mortality risk is more consistently related to organ and physiologic stability, than to underlying disease, no score prediction is validated to predict mortality 100% of the time
- Timing and quality of data entry influence outcome prediction greatly
- Most assessments are labor intensive and only include the initial 1 to 24 hours of patient data
- Scoring systems predict mortality, but do not factor in quality of life

# 2.1.2. Anatomic injury severity scoring

Anatomic injury based assessments of mortality risk are widely used in the outside of ICU, predominately in assessing trauma morbidity and mortality risk (36). The Injury severity scale (ISS) defines injury severity for comparative purposes, and was not intended as a triage or prognostic tool. Evaluation of outcomes is facilitated by application of a combination of anatomic and severity parameters, with simple data entry. The Abbreviated Injury Scale (AIS) further was developed as an automotive safety industry tool to quantify injury severity by anatomic location. To some degree, the Pediatric Trauma Score similarly combines anatomic and physiologic parameter assessment to a specific disease entity to predict injury Reliable identification of increased risk of mortality in the field has permitted effective triage and retrospective aggregate outcome evaluation, (37, 38) but has not resulted in individual prognostic decision making. Further attempts to combine statistical predictive ability require additional complexity in data collection, as seen with the ASCOT (A Severity Characteristic of Trauma), (39) but may only apply to specific injury or illness subsets of patients.

The main pitfalls in application of anatomy based mortality risk predictors include:

- Scoring systems appear were devised to quantify severity of illness, assist in triage and compare outcomes across systems, but not to predict ICU mortality
- Most scoring systems are labor intensive and applied outside the ICU, and in trauma patients
- Single anatomic or organ system involvement rarely accurately predicts mortality

### 2.1.3. Therapeutic intervention intensity assessment

Therapeutic intervention intensity based assessments of mortality risk are widely used to assess intensity of support provided, evaluate resource utilization and cost efficiency. Intensity of interventions are assumed to be surrogate assessments for severity of illness and risk of mortality. The Prehospital TISS scores (22) includes 73 items and describes intensity of treatment before referral to ICU. The TISS (23) quantifies intensity of treatment within the ICU. Use of cumulative therapeutic intensity assessment can improve the prognostic utility of the scores. However, the actual severity of illness and mortality risk can be greatly influenced by the medical approach to organ failures (e.g. oliguric renal failure can be managed with

diuretics and fluid restriction or by continuous renal replacement [dialytic] therapies).

The main pitfalls in application of therapeutic intervention based mortality risk predictors include:

- Character and aggressiveness of interventions influence scoring greatly
- Timing and quality of data entry influence outcome prediction
- Most assessments are labor intensive include cumulative patient data
- Scoring systems may predict mortality, but do not factor in quality of life

## 2.1.4. Disease specific scoring systems

Disease specific scoring systems have evolved to address specific pediatric prognostic morbidity and mortality risk assessments for infectious diseases such as meningococcemia and acquired immune deficiency syndrome. One study comparing 8 meningococcemia severity scoring systems (40) found that all were reasonable predictors of morbidity and mortality of the aggregate, but none correctly identified all survivors. A comparison of standard ICU physiologic instability predictors (PRISM) and meningococcemia specific severity indices suggest their utility in dividing patients into "risk categories", but do not allow for individual prognostication, or for significantly improved identification of those at risk for death (15).

The most pertinent disease specific adjustment to ICU severity of illness assessment was the development of the O-PRISM (Oncologic-PRISM) score, which added risk factors specific to pediatric HSCT patients that were derived from retrospective review of 28 patients from a single institution (28). Of importance, selection of the prognostic endpoint determined the important components to add to the score for these patients. Death in the ICU was associated with circulatory shock on admission, CRP level > 10 mg/dl and evidence of macroscopic bleeding. However, long term survival to hospital discharge was better correlated with HSCT related parameters such as severity of GVHD, CRP level > 10 mg/dl, and the presence of macroscopic bleeding. However, this scoring system has not been prospectively validated in a larger, multiinstitutional population.

The main pitfalls in application of disease specific mortality risk predictors include:

- ICU mortality risk is more consistently related to organ and physiologic stability, than to underlying disease diagnosis and no score is able to predict mortality 100% of the time
- Timing and quality of data entry influence outcome prediction greatly
- Assessments are disease based, and as supportive management improves over time the outcome correlation needs to be continuously updated and validated
- Scoring systems predict mortality, but do not factor in quality of life

# 2.1.5. Disease and organ failure markers

Organ dysfunction syndromes are a progressive concurrent failure of two or more organ systems. This failure is frequently a non-specific expression of critical illness. However, multiple organ system dysfunction is a leading cause of death in the ICU, and may represent a nonspecific inflammatory response to a variety of insults. For instance, risk of mortality for ARDS patients in the ICU have been correlated to inflammatory markers of leukotrienes and interleukins on day 1 of ICU hospitalization (29). Non-specific markers of organ shock, such as amount or duration of lactate for circulatory failure (41) or C-reactive protein > 10 mg/dl for HSCT patients (28) have been suggestive of mortality risk. Specific criteria have been developed to identify failure criteria for the major organ systems (17,42). Mortality for PICU patients has consistently been associated with multiple organ system failure (42), even in HSCT patients, (28) but is not sufficiently discriminating to determine continuation or withdrawal of ICU support. These markers of organ dysfunction can be highly influenced by the timing and circumstances of assessment.

The main pitfalls in application of disease and organ failure marker mortality risk predictors include:

- Although ICU mortality risk is more consistently related to organ and physiologic stability, than to underlying disease diagnosis, no score is able to predict mortality 100% of the time
- Timing, organ failure criteria and amount of support affect quality of data entry and influence outcome prediction greatly
- Assessments are disease based, and as supportive management improves over time the outcome correlation needs to be continuously updated and validated
- Markers of organ dysfunction are greatly influenced by the timing and aggressiveness of supportive care

### 2.1.6. Subjective assessments

Subjective reliance on personal and institutional experience is commonly necessary. Lack of a single validated and evidence-based tool that allows prediction of individual mortality risk forces subjective interpretation of the population data to the individual. Consideration of the appropriate action requires consideration of the following questions:

- Is the physiologic stability or instability due to patient factors or iatrogenic treatments?
- What is the endpoint for reversible or recoverable disease: survival vs. quality of life?
- What does the family and caregiver consider "good outcome" and adequate "quality of life"?

# 2.1.7 What specific risk factors have been identified for HSCT patients in the ICU?

Literature review suggests that HSCT patients referred for ICU support have an overall ICU survival rate between 12 and 46% (3, 6, 9, 24, 44, 46). Survival to

hospital discharge when invasive mechanical ventilation is provided is reported as lower: 4-36%, (3, 6, 8, 10, 24, 45, 47, 48) with additional risk of mortality suggested if respiratory failure precipitated endotracheal intubation, pulmonary infection was present, or more than one organ system was failing (48). Referral practices and underlying conditions may account for widely variable outcomes between centers. Most risk factors for acute ICU death follow parameters that characterize multiple acute organ system failure such as circulatory collapse, infection and coagulopathy rather than parameters related to HSCT (e.g. type of transplant, conditioning therapy) (28). However, several studies report risk adjustment for critical care complications such as allograft match, (10) presence of GVHD. (28) high doses of specific cytotoxic therapy (e.g. Ara-C), (49) cyclophosphamide, Busulfan, (Carmustine), diagnosis of lymphoma, and pre-existing lung disease with an oxygen requirement (2). At PICU admission, one recent study reports high risk for fatal outcome in HSCT patients associated with the combination of cardiovascular collapse, high CRP levels, and presence of macroscopic bleeding (e.g. evidence of multiple organ failure) (28). Long term survival after discharge from intensive care was more correlated to type of transplant and severity of GVHD (28).

Pre-admission pulmonary function test results are not consistently predictive of risk or severity of respiratory complications in pediatric HSCT (51). "Idiopathic pneumonia syndrome (IPS)" characterized by negative BAL cultures, diffuse infiltrates on chest radiographs, and severe clinical pneumonitis occurs in approximately 8% of HSCT patients at a median of 12 days post-transplant with rapid progression and reported 70% fatality (51). Several recent reports suggest early identification of pulmonary pathogens including unusual or resistant organisms and early application of aggressive supportive care for respiratory failure (e.g. non-invasive mechanical ventilation, hemofiltration of mediators, high frequency ventilation) may impact HSCT patient's outcome (9, 10, 50).

### 2.1.8 What can we extrapolate from adult experience?

Adult HSCT patients admitted to a Medical ICU but not requiring mechanical ventilation are reported to have excellent survival > 85%. In the same MICU, HSCT patients requiring mechanical ventilation had only < 4% survival (3-4). Most studies in adults report survival rates of 2.5 to 9% for HSCT ICU patients with respiratory failure requiring invasive mechanical ventilation and <1% survival if other organ system failures accompany respiratory failure (2). However, recent use of non-invasive mechanical support of impending respiratory failure has dramatically impacted the concept and outcome of respiratory support in solid organ transplant recipients (53, 4).

Adult experience with modification of APACHE (Acute Physiologic and Chronic Health Evaluation) severity of scoring systems to specific disease entities have improved calibration and discrimination in solid organ transplant (55) and maternal eclampsia (56) models. However, no currently available adult scoring systems predict mortality extremely well in all multidisciplinary ICUs (57) or when applied specifically to adult HSCT patients.

# 2.1.9 Under what circumstances is ICU care futile? When is the appropriate time to consider withdrawal of support?

Survival prediction tools in the ICU setting are usually based on severity of illness assessment, physiologic abnormalities (18, 18, 31), intensity of supportive ICU interventions required to maintain physiologic stability (P-TISS, TISS scores), organ system dysfunction indices (42-59), or markers of organ failure (e.g. elevated lactate) (60). Population mortality prediction tools may not be directly applicable to individual patients. Predictions for an individual patient's risk of death are statistically imprecise because of small numbers of cohorts in these groups and resultant wide confidence intervals (20). Even serial assessment of mortality risk combined with logistic regression analysis has not resulted in perfect predictive models (14, 19, 30).

The results of a study to understand prognoses and preferences for outcomes and risks of treatment (SUPPORT) indicated that physicians may not be willing to use objective risk assessment in clinical decision making (61). For example, Paz et al (3-4) studied factors associated with dismal outcome in HSCT patients admitted to the ICU over a 5-year period. Adult HSCT patients without associated respiratory failure admitted to the MICU had an 87% survival; those requiring mechanical ventilation 4% survival. Referring oncologists were informed and educated about the lack of survival benefit for ICU admission of HSCT with respiratory failure, but saw no change in ICU referral practice patterns. There was a slight shift to earlier consultation with families on desire for aggressive ICU support and DNAR issues. Specific search for prognostic factors (ICU admission, respiratory failure leading to mechanical ventilation, multiple organ failure involvement) suggesting nonsurvival in the specific ICU setting combined with patient and disease specific information (primary disease, type of graft, GVHD presence, macroscopic bleeding) should precede end-of-life discussion (62, 63). considerations for patient age, prospect for eventual disease free survival, and personal quality of life issues will always need to be factored in.

# 2.1.10. Time for evolution to prospective/concurrent registry style data collection and analysis

Predictors of severity of illness, ICU morbidity or mortality based upon physiologic, anatomic or intervention intensity data are only as good as the data entered. Predictors based on local populations and practice cannot be expected to compare to regional or national benchmarks. Several large, multi-institutional and multi-national organizations have created registry style databases that have served to facilitate outcome prediction in complex disease processes, including resuscitation (64), acute myocardial infarction management, (65) and pediatric oncology (66-68). This has resulted in major advance in the understanding and treatment of these disease processes. The time has come to combine the knowledge of ICU severity of illness prediction with the pediatric approach to clinical outcome research often taken by pediatric cancer groups.

### 3. SUMMARY

This manuscript briefly defined and reviewed the pertinent categories PICU severity of illness and mortality prognosis scoring systems, and their application to pediatric HSCT patients. Pitfalls in application of physiology, anatomy, organ system failure, therapeutic intensity, disease specific, and history-based scoring systems are discussed. Failure to respond too early, aggressive support of acute respiratory failure and multiple organ failure remain poor prognostic signs. The inability to appropriately translate population based data to individual prognostic prediction limits utility of current mortality predictors for limitation or discontinuation of aggressive supportive care. Evolution of disease processes and treatments, improving technological support measures and earlier timing of ICU interventions preclude decisionmaking based on historic controls. Prospective validation studies for severity of illness systems and the evolution to concurrent registry-style data collection and analysis are necessary for the HSCT patient requiring ICU care.

#### 4. REFERENCES

- 1. Garland A, Paz HL: Outcome of marrow transplantation recipients requiring intensive care. *Seminars in Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 17, 359-363 (1996)
- 2. Crawford SW: Respiratory disease in bone marrow and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. In: Fishman's Pulmonary Disease and Disorders, Elias JA, Fishman JA, Grippi MA, *et al* (Eds). New York, McGraw-Hill 2137-2154 (1998)
- 3. Paz HL; Crilley P; Weinar M; Brodsky I: Outcome of patients requiring medical ICU admission following bone marrow transplantation. *Chest* 104, 527-531 (1993)
- 4. Paz HL; Garland A; Weinar M; Crilley P; Brodsky I: Effect of clinical outcomes data on intensive care unit utilization by bone marrow transplant patients. *Crit Care Med* 26(1), 66-70 (1998)
- 5. Bojko T; Notterman DA; Greenwald BM; De Bruin WJ; Magid MS; Godwin T: Acute hypoxemic respiratory failure in children following bone marrow transplantation: an outcome and pathologic study. *Crit Care Med* 23, 755-759 (1995)
- 6. Nichols DG; Walker LK; Wingard JR; Bender KS; Bezman M; Zahurak ML; Piantadosi S; Frey-Simon M; Rogers MC: Predictors of acute respiratory failure after bone marrow transplantation in children. *Crit Care Med* 22, 1485-1491 (1994)
- 7. De Bruin W; Notterman DA; Magid M; Godwin T; Johnston S: Acute hypoxemic respiratory failure in infants and children: clinical and pathologic characteristics. *Critical Care Med* 20, 1485-1491 (1992)
- 8. Todd K; Wiley F; Landaw E; Gajewski J; Bellamy PE; Harrison RE; Brill JE; Feig SA: Survival outcome among

- 54 intubated pediatric bone marrow transplant patients. *Crit Care Med* 22, 171-176 (1994)
- 9. Rossi R, Shemie SD, Calderwood S: Prognosis of pediatric bone marrow transplant recipients requiring mechanical ventilation. *Crit Care Med* 27(6), 1181-6 (1999)
- 10. Diaz de Heredia C; Moreno A; Olive T; Iglesias J; Ortega JJ: Role of the intensive care unit in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation with life-threatening complications. *Bone Marrow Transpl* 24(2), 163-8 (1999)
- 11. Gruson D; Hilbert G; Portel L; Boiron JM; Bebear CM; Vargas F; Bebear C; Reiffers J; Gbikpi-Benissan G; Cardinaud JP: Severe respiratory failure requiring ICU admission in bone marrow transplant recipients. *Eur Respir J* 13(4), 883-7 (1999)
- 12. Warwick AB; Mertens AC; Shu XO; Ramsay NK; Neglia JP: Outcomes following mechanical ventilation in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transpl* 22(8), 787-94 (1998)
- 13. Schneider DT; Lemburg P; Sprock I; Heying R; Gobel U; Nurnberger W: Introduction of the oncological pediatric risk of mortality score (O-PRISM) for ICU support following stem cell transplantation in children. *Bone Marrow Transpl* 25, 1079-1086 (2000)
- 14. Rue M Artigas A, Alvarez M, Quintana S, Valero C: Performance of the mortality probability models in assessing severity of illness during the first week in the intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med* 28, 2819-2824 (2000)
- 15. Castellanos-Ortega A, Delgado-Rodriguez M: Comparison of the performance of two general and three specific scoring systems for meningococcal septic shock in children. *Crit Care Med* 28, 2967-2973 (2000)
- 16. Pollack MM, Ruttimann UE, Getson PR: Pediatric risk of mortality (PRISM) score. *Crit Care Med* 16, 1110-1116 (1988)
- 17. Wilkinson J, Pollack MM, Ruttiman UE, *et al.*: Outcome of pediatric patients with multiple organ system failure. *Crit Care Med* 14, 271-274 (1986)
- 18. Pollack MM, Patel KM, Ruttiman UE: The Pediatric Risk of Mortality III—Acute physiology score: a method of assessing physiologic instability for pediatric intensive care unit patients. *J Pediatr* 131, 575-581 (1997)
- 19. Marcin JP; Pollack MM; Patel KM; Sprague BM; Ruttimann UE: Prognostication and certainty in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Pediatrics* 104(4 Pt 1), 868-73 (1999 Oct)
- 20. Marcin JP, Pollack MM, Patel KM, Ruttimann UE. Decision support issues using a physiology based score. Intensive Care Med 1998 Dec;24(12):1299-304.

- 21. Shann F, Pearson G, Slater A, Wilkinson K: Paediatric index of mortality (PIM): a mortality prediction model for children in intensive care. *Intensive Care Med* 23(2), 201-7 (1997)
- 22. Dick WF. Scoring in der Notfall-und Intensivmedizin beim Kind: In: Lemberg P, Schuster HP (eds). Aktuelle Notfallmedizin in der Praxis. Bahlingern: *Spitta* 10-16 (1999)
- 23. Yeh TS; Pollack MM; Holbrook PR; Fields AI; Ruttiman U: Assessment of pediatric intensive care-application of the Therapeutic Intervention Scoring System. *Crit Care Med* 10, 497-500 (1982)
- 24. Jackson SR; Tweeddale MG; Barnett MJ; Spinelli JJ; Sutherland HJ; Reece DE; Klingemann HG; Nantel SH; Fung HC; Toze CL; Phillips GL; Shepherd JD: Admission of bone marrow transplant recipients to the intensive care unit: outcome, survival and prognostic factors. *Bone Marrow Transpl* 21, 697-704 (1998)
- 25. Hayes C; Lush RJ; Cornish JM; Foot AM; Henderson J; Jenkins I; Murphy P; Oakhill A; Pamphilon DH; Steward CG; Weir P; Wolf A; Marks DI: The outcome of children requiring admission to an intensive care unit following bone marrow transplantation. *Br J Haematol* 102(3), 666-70 (1998)
- 26. van Veen A; Karstens A; van der Hoek AC; Tibboel D; Hahlen K; van der Voort E: The prognosis of oncologic patients in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Intensive Care Med* 22(3), 237-41 (1996)
- 27. Hollmig KA; Soehngen D; Leschke M; Kobbe G; Schneider P; Klein RM; Aul C; Heyll A: Long-term survival of recipients of allogeneic bone-marrow transplantation after mechanical ventilation. *Eur J Med Res* 21;2(2), 62-6 (1997)
- 28. Schneider DT; Lemburg P; Sprock I; Heying R; Gobel U; Nurnberger W: Introduction of the oncological pediatric risk of mortality score (O-PRISM) for ICU support following stem cell transplantation in children. *Bone Marrow Transpl* 25, 1079-1086 (2000)
- 29. Amat M; Barcons M; Mancebo J; Mateo J; Oliver A; Mayoral JF; Fontcuberta J; Vila L: Evolution of leukotriene B4, peptide leukotrienes, and interleukin-8 plasma concentrations in patients at risk of acute respiratory distress syndrome and with acute respiratory distress syndrome: mortality prognostic study. *Crit Care Med* 28(1), 57-62 (2000)
- 30. LeGall *et al.* Logistic organ dysfunction system: a new way to assess organ dysfunction. *JAMA* 276, 802-810 (1996)
- 31. Knaus WA; Wagner DP; Draper EA; Zimmerman JE; Bergner M; Bastos PG; Sirio CA; Murphy DJ; Lotring T; Damiano A; *et al*: The APACHE III prognostic system. Risk prediction of hospital mortality for critically ill hospitalized adults. *Chest* 6177-623 (1991)

- 32. Shann F, Pearson G, Slater A, Wilkinson K: Paediatric index of mortality (PIM): a mortality prediction model for children in intensive care. *Intensive Care Med* 23(2), 201-7 (1997)
- 33. Esserman L, Belkora J, Lenert . Potentially ineffective care-a new outcome to assess the limits of critical care. *JAMA* 274, 1544-1551 (1995)
- 34. Pollack MM, Getson PR: Pediatric critical care cost containment: combined actuarial and clinical program. *Crit Care Med* 19, 12-20 (1991)
- 35. Knaus WA, Rauss A, Alperovitch A: Do objective estimates of chances of survival influence decisions to withhold or withdraw treatment? *Med Decis Making* 10, 163-171 (1990)
- 36. Senkowski C, McKenney M: Trauma Scoring Systems: a review. *J Am Col Surg* 189, 491-503 (1999)
- 37. Tepas JJ 3d; Ramenofsky ML; Barlow B; Gans BM; Harris BH; Di Scala C; Butler K: The pediatric trauma score as a predictor of injury severity: an objective assessment. *J Pediatr Surg* 28, 425-427 (1988)
- 38. Kaufmann CR, Maier RV, Rivara FP, *et al.*: Evaluation of the Pediatric Trauma Score. *JAMA* 263, 69-72 (1990)
- 39. Champion HR; Copes WS; Sacco WJ; Lawnick MM; Keast SL; Bain LW Jr; Flanagan ME; Frey CF: The major trauma outcome study: establishing national norms for trauma care. *J Trauma* 30, 1356-1365 (1990)
- 40. Derkx HH, van den Hoek J, Redekop WK, *et al.*: Meningococcal disease: a comparison of eight severity scores in 125 children. *Intensive Care Med* 22(12), 1433-41 (1996)
- 41. Bakker J; Gris P; Coffernils M; Kahn RJ; Vincent JL: Serial blood lactate levels can predict the development of multiple organ failure following septic shock. *Am J Surg* 171, 221-226 (1996)
- 42. Wilkinson JD; Pollack MM; Glass NL; Kanter RK; Katz RW; Steinhart CM: Mortality associated with multiple organ system failure and sepsis in pediatric intensive care unit. *J Pediatr* 111(3), 324-8 (1987)
- 43. Wilkinson JD; Pollack MM; Ruttimann UE; Glass NL; Yeh TS: Outcome of pediatric patients with multiple organ system failure. *Crit Care Med* 14(4), 271-4 (1986)
- 44. Torrecilla C; Cortes JL; Chamorro C; Rubio JJ; Galdos P; Dominguez de Villota E: Prognostic assessment of the acute complications of bone marrow transplantation requiring intensive therapy. *Intensive Care Med* 14, 393-398 (1988)
- 45. Rossi R, Shemie SD, Calderwood S. Prognosis of pediatric bone marrow transplant recipients requiring mechanical ventilation. *Crit Care Med* 27(6), 1181-6 (1999)

- 46. Diaz de Heredia C, Moreno A, Olive T, Iglesias J, Ortega JJ: Role of the intensive care unit in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation with life-threatening complications. *Bone Marrow Transpl* 24(2), 163-8 (1999)
- 47. Denardo SJ, Oye RK, Bellamy PE: Efficacy of intensive care for bone marrow transplant patients with respiratory failure. *Crit Care Med* 17, 4-6 (1989)
- 48. Keenan HT; Bratton SL; Martin LD; Crawford SW; Weiss NS: Outcome of children who require mechanical ventilatory support after bone marrow transplantation. *Crit Care Med* 28, 830-835 (2000)
- 49. Haupt HM, Hutchins GM, Moore GW: Ara-C lung: noncardiogenic pulmonary edema complicating cytosine arabinoside therapy of leukemia. *Am J Med* 70(2), 256-61 (1981)
- 50. Haselton D, Klekamp J, Christman B, Barr F: Use of high dose corticosteroids and HFOV for treatment of a child with diffuse alveolar hemorrhage after BMT: Case report and review of the literature. *Crit Care Med* 248, 245-248 (2000)
- 51. Quigley PM, Yeager AM, Loughlin GM: The effects of bone marrow transplantation on pulmonary function in children. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 18(6), 361-7 (1994)
- 52. Crawford SW; Schwartz DA; Petersen FB; Clark JG: Mechanical ventilation after marrow transplantation: Risk factors and clinical outcome. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 137, 682-687 (1988)
- 53. Antonelli M, Conti G, Bufi M, *et al.*: Noninvasive ventilation for treatment of acute respiratory failure in patients undergoing solid organ transplantation: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 283(2), 235-241 (2000)
- 54. Rabitsch W, Staudinger T, Brugger SA, *et al.* Successful management of adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) after high-dose chemotherapy and peripheral blood progenitor cell rescue by non-invasive ventilatory support. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998; 21:1067-1069
- 55. Angus DC, Clermont G, Kramer DJ, *et al.* Short-term and long-term outcome prediction with the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II system after orthotopic liver transplantation. Crit Care Med 2000 Jan;28(1):150-6.
- 56. Bhagwanjee S, Paruk F, Moodley J, Muckart DJ: Intensive care unit morbidity and mortality from eclampsia: an evaluation of the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II score and the Glasgow Coma Scale score. *Crit Care Med* 28(1), 120-4 (2000)
- 57. Markgraf R, Deutschinoff G, Pientka L, Scholten T: Comparison of acute physiology and chronic health evaluations II and III and simplified acute physiology score

- II: a prospective cohort study evaluating these methods to predict outcome in a German interdisciplinary intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med* 28(1), 26-33 (2000)
- 58. Pollack MM Ruttimann UE, Getson PR: Pediatric risk of mortality (PRISM) score. *Crit Care Med* 16, 1110-1116 (1988)
- 59. Beal AL, Cerra FB. Multiple organ failure syndrome in the 1990s. Systemic inflammatory response and organ dysfunction. JAMA 1994 Jan 19;271(3):226-33.
- 60. Rackow EC, Weil MH: Physiology of blood flow and oxygen utilization by peripheral tissue in circulatory shock. *Clin Chem* 36(8 Pt 2), 1544-1546 (1990)
- 61. SUPPORT investigators: A controlled trial to improve care for seriously ill hospitalized patients. *JAMA* 274, 1591-1598 (1995)
- 62. Perry A, Rivlin M, Goldstone A: Bone marrow transplant patients with Life-threatening organ failure: when should treatment stop? *J Clin Oncol* 17, 298-303 (1999)
- 63. Rubenfeld GD, Crawford SW: Withdrawing lifesupport for mechanically ventilated bone marrow transplant patients: A case for evidence-based guidelines. *Ann Intern Med* 126, 625-633 (1996)
- 64. Cummins RO; Chamberlain D; Hazinski MF; Nadkarni V; Kloeck W; Kramer E; Becker L; Robertson C; Koster R; Zaritsky A; Bossaert L; Ornato JP; Callanan V; Allen M; Steen P; Connolly B; Sanders A; Idris A; Cobbe S: Recommended guidelines for reviewing, reporting, and conducting research on in-hospital resuscitation: the in-hospital 'Utstein style'. *Circulation*. 95(8), 2213-39 (1997)
- 65. Fu Y; Chang WC; Mark D; Califf RM; Mackenzie B; Granger CB; Topol EJ; Hlatky M; Armstrong PW: Canadian-American differences in the management of acute coronary syndromes in the GUSTO IIb trial: one-year follow-up of patients without ST-segment elevation. *Circulation* 102(12), 1375-81 (2000)
- 66. Donadieu J; Auclerc MF; Baruchel A; Leblanc T; Landman-Parker J; Perel Y; Michel G; Cornu G; Bordigoni P; Sommelet D; Leverger G; Hill C; Schaison G: Critical study of prognostic factors in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: differences in outcome are poorly explained by the most significant prognostic variables. Fralle group. French Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia study group. Br J Haematol 102(3), 729-39 (1998)
- 67. Mattano LA Jr, Sather HN, Trigg ME, Nachman JB: Osteonecrosis as a complication of treating acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children: A report from the Children's Cancer Group. *J Clin Oncol* 18(18), 3262-72 (2000)
- 68. Alvarado CS; London WB; Look AT; Brodeur GM; Altmiller DH; Thorner PS; Joshi VV; Rowe ST; Nash MB;

- Smith EI; Castleberry RP; Cohn SL: Natural history and biology of stage A neuroblastoma: a Pediatric Oncology Group Study. *J Pediatr Hematol* Oncol 22(3), 197-205 (2000)
- **Key Words:** Severity of Illness, Morbidity, Mortality, Intensive Care, Mechanical Ventilation, Predictors, Transplantation, Review
- Send correspondence to: Vinay Nadkarni, M.D., Director, Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, Department of Anesthesia and Critical Care, Alfred I. duPont Hospital for Children, 1600 Rockland Road, P.O. Box 269, Wilmington, DE 19899, Tel: 302-6515159, Fax: 302-651-6410, E-mail: vnadkar@nemours.org